
 

WTRY Broadcast Schedule Regular Meetings, Wednesday, 6:15 p.m. and 11:00 p.m. Study Meetings, Wednesday, 3:15 p.m. 

 PLANNING COMMISSION 
 MEETING AGENDA 

SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING 
 
 

Michael W. Hutson, Chair, and Mark Maxwell, Vice Chair 
Donald Edmunds, Philip Sanzica, Robert Schultz, Thomas Strat 

John J. Tagle, Lon M. Ullmann and Mark J. Vleck 
   
June 22, 2010 7:30 P.M. Council Board Room 
   

 
1. ROLL CALL 
 
2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES –  June 8, 2010 Regular Meeting 
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS – For Items Not on the Agenda 
 
5. BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS (BZA) REPORT 
 
6. DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (DDA) REPORT 
 
7. PLANNING AND ZONING REPORT 

 
 

PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 
 
8. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 962) – Proposed In Pro 

Insurance Group Office Building addition, North side of Big Beaver Road, East of John 
R (2095 E. Big Beaver), Section 24, Currently Zoned O-1 (Office Building) District 
(Consent Judgment) 

 
9. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 960) – Proposed VEHMA 

International Improvements, Northwest Corner of Stephenson Hwy and Rankin (1055 
Stephenson Hwy), Section 35, Currently Zoned M-1 (Light Industrial) District 

 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

10. PUBLIC COMMENTS – Items on Current Agenda 
 

11. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS 
 
 
ADJOURN 
 
NOTICE: People with disabilities needing accommodations for effective participation in this meeting should 

contact the City Clerk by e-mail at clerk@troymi.gov or by calling (248) 524-3317 at least two working 
days in advance of the meeting.  An attempt will be made to make reasonable accommodations. 

500 W. Big Beaver 
Troy, MI  48084 
(248) 524-3364 
www.troymi.gov 

planning@troymi.gov 

mailto:clerk@ci.troy.mi.us�


PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 8, 2010 
  
 
 

1 
 

The Regular Meeting of the Troy City Planning Commission was called to order by Chair 
Hutson at 7:30 p.m. on June 8, 2010, in the Council Chamber of the Troy City Hall. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Present: Absent: 
Donald Edmunds Thomas Strat 
Michael W. Hutson 
Mark Maxwell 
Philip Sanzica 
Robert Schultz 
John J. Tagle 
Lon M. Ullmann 
Mark J. Vleck 
 
Also Present: 
R. Brent Savidant, Acting Planning Director 
Allan Motzny, Assistant City Attorney 
Wanda Norman, Planning Department Intern 
Kathy L. Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Resolution # PC-2010-06-035 
Moved by: Schultz 
Seconded by: Edmunds 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the Agenda as prepared. 
 
Yes: All present (8) 
Absent: Strat 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
3. MINUTES 

 
Resolution # PC-2010-06-036 
Moved by: Tagle 
Seconded by: Schultz 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the minutes of the May 25, 2010 Special/Study meeting 
as prepared. 
 
Yes: All present (8) 
Absent: Strat 
 
MOTION CARRIED 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 8, 2010 
  
 
 

2 
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS – Items not on the Agenda 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 
 
 

SPECIAL USE REQUEST 
 

5. PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE APPROVAL REQUEST (File Number SU 380) 
– Proposed Unique Auto Sales, South side of Maple, West of Rochester (578 and 
580 E. Maple), Section 34, Currently Zoned M-1 (Light Industrial) District 
 
Mr. Savidant presented a summary of the Planning Consultant report on the 
proposed Special Use application.  The petitioner notified the Planning Department 
that he is not pursuing the auction approval at this time; therefore the application is 
exclusively to permit conventional used auto sales.  Mr. Savidant said there are no 
significant objections to the proposed use, provided the applicant complies with 
Section 28.30.14 (5), which states that automobiles for sale cannot be displayed in 
the front yard.   
 
The Planning Consultant recommends that the Planning Commission approve the 
proposed special land use, conditioned on the applicant submitting a revised 
application omitting the “auction” language and a revised site plan clearly 
demonstrating that autos for sale will be located only in the rear or side yards and 
will not occupy any required parking spaces. 
 
Mr. Savidant noted the Planning Department received a communication from an 
adjacent property owner, stating that the subject property is a junkyard.  Mr. 
Savidant said a site visit revealed a number of automobiles parked along the fence, 
as well as a school bus and tractor-trailer.  He said the property takes on the 
appearance of being junky, but the condition is not out of hand.  He said Code 
Enforcement is handling the matter and emphasized that any violations would be a 
separate issue from the Special Use application in front of the members this 
evening. 
 
There was discussion on: 
 Allowable parking on site. 
 Gravel surface. 
 Screen wall requirements. 

 
Jack Youhana, owner of Global Towing of 578 E. Maple, Troy, was present.  Mr. 
Youhana addressed the abandoned vehicles on site.  He said some vehicles remain 
on site for approximately four or five months until customers are able to pay for the 
services rendered.   



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 8, 2010 
  
 
 

3 
 

Mr. Youhana addressed maintenance of the property to the east.  He is not the 
property owner and recently found out the property is City-owned.  Mr. Youhana has 
maintained the property for about a year and a half and recently stopped.  Mr. 
Youhana said he is now receiving written notification from the City to clear the 
property of grass and overgrown vegetation. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
No one was present to speak. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 
 
Mr. Savidant confirmed that the property to the east of the subject property is owned 
by the City, as the applicant stated. 
 
Chair Hutson offered an apology on behalf of the City. 
 
Resolution # PC-2010-06-037 
Moved by: Schultz 
Seconded by: Maxwell 
 
RESOLVED, That Special Use Approval, as requested for the proposed used car 
sales operation, located on the south side of Maple, west of Rochester, in Section 
34, within the M-1 zoning district, be granted, subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. No automobiles shall be displayed for sale in the required front yard. 
2. The applicant must submit a revised site plan eliminating all references to 

auction language. 
 
Yes: All present (8) 
Absent: Strat 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 

PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEWS 
 

6. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 961) – Proposed Panera 
Bread Café, West side of Coolidge, South of Maple (1325 Coolidge), Section 31, 
Currently Zoned M-1 (Light Industrial) District 
 
Mr. Savidant presented a summary of the Planning Consultant report on the 
proposed Preliminary Site Plan application.  He pointed out the item is a Consent 
Judgment; therefore the Planning Commission is a recommending body only to City 
Council. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 8, 2010 
  
 
 

4 
 

Mr. Savidant addressed the traffic circulation/pattern, parking and drive-thru 
speaker sound pressure levels.  Mr. Savidant indicated the proposed development 
must be sensitive to the adjacent residential to the north.  He noted that windows, 
doors and balconies face the back of the restaurant.  Mr. Savidant said the 
petitioner brought in revised plans (distributed to members prior to the beginning of 
tonight’s meeting) that incorporate a landscape treatment as a buffer along the 
northern property line. 
 
Mr. Savidant said there are no significant objections to the proposed site plan.  It is 
recommended that the Planning Commission recommends to City Council to amend 
the Consent Judgment to allow a drive-thru lane subject to the provision of a 
landscape buffer along the northern boundary (the retail portion of the site) to 
mitigate any potential negative impacts caused by additional traffic through the 
proposed drive-thru lane.  Mr. Savidant encouraged members to review the revised 
site plan to determine if the proposed landscaping is sufficient. 
 
Mr. Savidant noted that the Planning Department has received correspondence 
from two residents who object to the proposed drive-thru lane. 
 
Howard Luckoff, attorney, from Honigman Miller Schwartz & Cohn, 38500 Woodward, 
Bloomfield Hills, was present to represent the petitioner.  Mr. Luckoff addressed the 
revised site plan that incorporates additional landscaping as a buffer to the adjacent 
residents.  He also addressed the service drives and loading area in relation to the 
drive-thru lane and pedestrian crosswalk. 
 
Mike Kalfayan of Panera Bread corporate office was present.  He said a draft plan was 
shared with the landlord and other tenants. 
 
Discussion followed on: 
 Service lanes, stacking area and loading zones. 
 Landscape plan/landscape area. 
 Impact on landlord and existing tenants. 
 Traffic circulation; estimate traffic count. 
 Delivery schedule in relation to traffic circulation. 
 Existing restaurant tenants potential for drive-thru lanes. 
 Operation of store, store hours, delivery schedule. 
 Freestanding building -vs- retrofit of existing store. 
 Consent Judgment stipulations. 
 Impact on residential; communication between petitioner and residents.  

 
Chair Hutson opened the floor for public comment. 
 
Thomas Bartlett of 1381 Raleigh Place, Troy, was present.  Mr. Bartlett spoke in 
opposition of the proposed drive-thru lane.  Mr. Bartlett said the proposed drive-thru 
lane would impact their quality of life.  He said Panera has 1,200 store locations in the 
United States, 30 of which have drive-thru windows, one of which is located in 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 8, 2010 
  
 
 

5 
 

Roseville, Michigan.  Mr. Bartlett said the Roseville store sits on a freestanding site in 
front of a retail outlet with direct access to two major roads.  He indicated the store has 
no loading or unloading concerns, and no residential areas within one half mile.  Mr. 
Bartlett referenced a Macomb Daily article addressing the construction of the Panera 
store in Roseville.   
 
Anthony Cebrian of 1399 Raleigh Place, Troy, was present.  Mr. Cebrian spoke in 
opposition of the proposed drive-thru lane.  He addressed the noise from delivery 
trucks, outdoor seating, to-go orders and the potential decrease in property values. 
 
Christian Shank of 1393 Raleigh Place, Troy, was present to represent the Village at 
Midtown Square Association.  He said residents of Midtown Square are opposed to 
the proposed drive-thru lane because of noise, traffic circulation and property 
devaluation concerns.  Mr. Shank introduced photographs distributed to members 
prior to the beginning of tonight’s meeting.  He addressed the proposed landscaped 
buffer, trash removal, pedestrian crosswalk, views of the site from a residential 
perspective and setting precedence for existing tenants. 
 
Chair Hutson closed the floor for public comment. 
 
Mr. Vleck addressed potential negative impacts on the adjacent residents; i.e., loading 
zone, noise pollution, traffic circulation and safety concerns.  He said a screen wall 
would not mitigate any negative impacts.  Mr. Vleck said he lives behind a restaurant 
facility and is very familiar with the concerns addressed by residents this evening. 
 
Mr. Ullmann is not in favor of the proposed drive-thru lane because of its close 
proximity to the residential area.  He addressed concerns with noise, delivery conflicts 
and setting precedence with drive-thru lanes for existing restaurants. 
 
Mr. Edmunds addressed communication, if any, between the petitioner and the 
residents.   
 
Mr. Sanzica does not believe the drive-thru lane is a proper use or an appropriate 
location.  He addressed concerns with the dumpster, stacking and loading.   
 
Chair Hutson believes the proposed drive-thru lane is not an appropriate use because 
of its proximity to residential.  He addressed concerns with noise and traffic circulation.   
 
Resolution # PC-2010-06-038 
Moved by: Schultz 
Seconded by: Vleck 
 
RESOLVED, The Planning Commission recommends that Preliminary Site Plan 
Approval, pursuant to Section 03.40.03 of the Zoning Ordinance, as requested for 
the proposed Panera Bread Café drive-thru, located on the west side of Coolidge, 
south of Maple, in Section 31, within the M-1 zoning district, be denied, for the 
following reasons:  



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 8, 2010 
  
 
 

6 
 

1. Unacceptable conflict between loading and stacking lanes. 
2. Multiple negative impacts on the adjacent residential properties. 
3. Noise pollution that will occur to the neighboring residential property cannot be 

mitigated by any type of landscaping or screen wall. 
 
Yes: All present (8) 
Absent: Strat 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
Mr. Schultz said the existing site is a wrong place for a drive-thru lane and would set 
precedence for other restaurant tenants.  He suggested giving consideration to 
revise the Consent Judgment to allow a freestanding structure on the property. 
 
 

7. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 960) – Proposed VEHMA 
International Improvements, Northwest Corner of Stephenson Hwy and Rankin 
(1055 Stephenson Hwy), Section 35, Currently Zoned M-1 (Light Industrial) District 
 
Mr. Savidant presented a summary of the Planning Consultant report on the 
proposed preliminary site plan application.  Mr. Savidant said the applicant must 
secure a variance from the 50-foot front yard setback requirement in the M-1 
district, and indicated the applicant is scheduled to appear at the June 15, 2010 
Board of Zoning Appeals meeting.   
 
Mr. Savidant reported a thorough review of the preliminary site plan application 
provided by the Planning Consultant was distributed to the members prior to the 
beginning of tonight’s meeting. 
 
Thomas Kemp of Kemp & Peyerk Development, 275 W. Girard, Madison Heights, 
was present.  He addressed the required setbacks in relation to the three frontages 
of the site and parking. 
 
Kevin Biddison of Biddison Architecture, 850 Stephenson Highway, Troy, was 
present.  He addressed the design layout and occupancy of the building.  A color 
rendering of the proposed development was displayed. 
 
There was discussion on: 
 The three frontages of the site in relation to the 50-foot setback requirements. 
 The design layout with respect to form-based codes; i.e., building orientation 

toward Stephenson and parking in rear. 
 A retaining wall or berm design to screen parked vehicles. 
 Stormwater management; incorporation of innovative green features.  

 
Mr. Biddison said they would try to accommodate the Planning Commission and 
take into consideration the suggestions and comments made this evening. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 8, 2010 
  
 
 

7 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 
8. PUBLIC COMMENTS – Items on Current Agenda 

 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 

 
 
9. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS 

 
Mr. Schultz addressed current redevelopment of sites in the City. 
 
Mr. Ullmann addressed innovative stormwater management with respect to the re-
write of the Zoning Ordinance.   
 
Mr. Edmunds thanked Mr. Savidant for forwarding material on the Birmingham/Troy 
Transit Center.  He asked if Mr. Savidant would forward a detailed breakdown of the 
cost estimate. 
 
Mr. Savidant indicated he did not know if one had been prepared. 
 
 

The Regular Meeting of the Planning Commission adjourned at 8:50 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
       
Michael W. Hutson, Chair 
 
 
 
 
       
Kathy L. Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 
G:\Planning Commission Minutes\2010 PC Minutes\Draft\06-08-10 Regular Meeting_Draft.doc 
 



  PC 2010.06.22 
  Agenda Item # 8 
 

DATE: June 16, 2010 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: R. Brent Savidant, Acting Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 962) – Proposed 

InPro Insurance Group Office Building addition, North side of Big Beaver 
Road, East of John R (2095 E. Big Beaver), Section 24, Currently Zoned O-1 
(Office Building) – Controlled by Consent Judgment 

 
 
The applicant Rand Construction Engineering, Inc. submitted the above referenced 
Preliminary Site Plan Approval application.  They propose to eliminate the cross-access 
easement that was required by the Planning Commission as a condition of site plan 
approval on July 12, 1988.  This will allow the applicant to construct a brick enclosure for 
an oxygen tank next to the building.  The property is zoned O-1 but is controlled by 
Consent Judgment.  Therefore, the Planning Commission has a recommending role for 
this application.  City Council must approve the amended Consent Judgment and revised 
site plan. 
 
The attached report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. summarizes the 
project. 
 
City management recommends approval of the Preliminary Site Plan application. 
 
Please be prepared to discuss the application at the June 22, 2010 Planning Commission 
Special/Study meeting. 
 
Attachments: 

1. Maps. 
2. Report prepared by CWA. 
3. Letter from David W. Goodman. 
4. Letter from Rick and Rita Howard. 

 
cc: Applicant 
 File/ SP 962 
 
G:\SITE PLANS\SP 962 Inpro Insurance Group Office Sec 24\SP-962 InPro Insurance Group 06 22 10.docx 



PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEWS 
 
8. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 962) – Proposed InPro 

Insurance Group Office Building addition, North side of Big Beaver Road, East of 
John R (2095 E. Big Beaver), Section 24, Currently Zoned O-1 (Office Building) – 
Controlled by Consent Judgment 

 
 

Proposed Resolution # PC-2010-06- 
Moved by: 
Seconded by: 
 
RESOLVED, The Planning Commission recommends that Preliminary Site Plan 
Approval, as requested for the proposed InPro Insurance Group Office Building 
addition, located on the north side of Big Beaver, east of John R, in Section 24, 
within the O-1 zoning district, be (granted, subject to the following conditions): 
___________________________________________________________) or  
 
(denied, for the following reasons: _________________________________) or 
 
(postponed, for the following reasons:_________________________________) 
 
Yes:  
No:  
Absent:  
 
MOTION CARRIED / DENIED 



2095 E. Big Beaver

6/16/2010

Legend

1: 1,430

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

1190238 238Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

Road Centerline
Major Road
Industrial Road
Local Road

Hydrography Poly
Hydrography Arc
Parcels
Aerial Photos - 2008

Red:    Band_1
Green: Band_2
Blue:   Band_3



2095 E. Big Beaver

6/16/2010

Legend

1: 1,430

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

1190238 238Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

Road Centerline
Major Road
Industrial Road
Local Road

Zoning
(PUD) Planned Unit Development
(B-1) Local Business District
(B-2) Community Business District
(B-3) General Business District
(R-C) Research Center District
(C-F) Community Facilities District
(C-J) Consent Judgment
(E-P) Environmental Protection District
(R-EC) Residential Elder Care
(P-1) Vehicular Parking District
(H-S) Highway Service District
(M-1) Light Industrial District
(O-1) Office Building District
(O-M) Office Mid-Rise District
(OSC) Office Service Commercial District
(CR-1) One Family Residential Cluster District
(R-1A) One Family Residential District
(R-1B) One Family Residential District
(R-1C) One Family Residential District
(R-1D) One Family Residential District
(R-1E) One Family Residential District
(R-1T) One Family Attached Residential District
(R-2) Two Family Residential District
(R-M) Multiple Family Residential Medium Density
(RM-1) Multiple Family Residential District (Low Rise)
(RM-2) Multiple Family Residential District (Mid Rise)
(RM-3) Multiple Family Residential District (High Rise)

Hydrography Poly
Hydrography Arc
Parcels
Aerial Photos - 2008

Red:    Band_1
Green: Band_2
Blue:   Band_3



 

Richard K. Carlisle, President      R. Donald Wortman, Vice President       Douglas J. Lewan, Principal      John L. Enos, Principal 
Jennifer L. Coe, Associate    Sally M. Elmiger, Associate    David J. Scurto, Associate    Brian M. Oppmann, Associate    Zachary Branigan, Associate 

 
 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Brent Savidant 
 
FROM: Zachary Branigan 

DATE: June 8, 2010 
 
RE: InPro Insurance Group 
 
 
We are in receipt of a request from Goodman Investments to vacate an existing cross access 
easement on the InPro Insurance Group site located at 2095 East Big Beaver Road, just east of 
John R Road, on the north side of Big Beaver. 
 
The site is controlled by a consent judgment and currently has a cross access easement at its 
northwest corner, which was intended to permit the connection of the site to the property to the 
west, which has access to both John R. Road and Big Beaver Road.  This property to the west, 
which is now occupied by the Grace Christian Learning Center, is also home to a cross access 
easement to the InPro property, but that easement is not opposite the InPro easement.  Rather, it 
is located at the south drive to Big Beaver and was originally intended to allow for a shared 
driveway. Since these easements were approved, however, the uses and build out of both sites 
has made the existing cross access easements obsolete. 
 
The InPro easement extending to the west now abuts the outdoor secure play area for children 
under the care of the Grace Christian Learning Center.  The easement at the south end of the 
Grace Christian Learning Center property is now opposite a detention basin that is located in the 
front yard of the InPro building.  Neither of these obstacles is likely to be removed or relocated, 
and no other common area exists between the two sites to replace these mismatched cross aces 
easements. 
 
Goodman Investments hopes to secure a vacation from the easement on their property to allow 
for the installation of a new walled enclosure to surround an oxygen tank. The oxygen tank is 
required by a potential tenant for the InPro facility, and no other practical location would serve to 
provide adequate and safe access to the tank.  Further, we see no practical reason to maintain the 
access easement, given that it abuts a dedicated outdoor play area.  Even if the play area were 
removed, and the use discontinued, the building Grace Christian Learning Center building itself 
would obscure a direct route west to John R. Road, as it has been added onto in recent years.   
 



InPro Easement Vacation Request  
June 8, 2010 

 2 

The original purpose for these easements was to allow for a connection of like uses for access 
management purposes.  Both sites have evolved, and have become home to established uses with 
permanent improvements that complicate and make obsolete the existing easements.  We support 
the vacation of both easements, in accordance with the written request of the applicant and 
consent of the Grace Christian Learning Center owners submitted to the Planning Department.  
Therefore, we recommend the Planning Commission recommend to the City Council that the 
consent judgment for the property be amended to permit these two easements to be vacated. 
 
Sincerely,  

 
 
 









  PC 2010.06.22 
  Agenda Item # 9 
 

DATE: June 16, 2010 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: R. Brent Savidant, Acting Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 960) – Proposed 

Vehma International Improvements, Northwest corner of Stephenson and 
Rankin (1055 Stephenson), Section 35, Currently Zoned M-1 (Light 
Industrial) 

 
 
The applicant, Kemp & Peyerk-Sterling, LLC, submitted the above referenced Preliminary 
Site Plan Approval application.  The applicant is proposing to construct a two story, 
142,000 square foot industrial building. 
 
A cursory review of the application indicated the need for a variance from the 50-foot front 
yard setback requirement in the M-1 district.  The applicant submitted an application for the 
Board of Zoning Appeals which considered the request at the June 15, 2010 Regular 
meeting.  The variance application was approved. 
 
The attached report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. summarizes the 
application.   
 
City management recommends approval of the Preliminary Site Plan application. 
 
Please be prepared to discuss the application at the June 22, 2010 Planning Commission 
Special/Study meeting. 
 
Attachments: 

1. Maps 
2. Reports (2) prepared by CWA 
3. Minutes from the June 8, 2010 Planning Commission meeting (draft) 
4. Minutes from the June 15, 2010 Board of Zoning Appeals meeting (draft) 

 
cc: Applicant 
 File/ SP 960 
 
 
G:\SITE PLANS\SP 960 Vehma International  Sec 35\SP-960 Vehma International 06 22 10.docx 



 

 

 
PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 

 
 
 9. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 960) – Proposed Vehma 

 International Improvements, Northwest corner of Stephenson and Rankin (1055 
 Stephenson), Section 35, Currently Zoned M-1 (Light Industrial) 

 
 

Proposed Resolution # PC-2010-06- 
Moved by: 
Seconded by: 
 
RESOLVED, That Preliminary Site Plan Approval, pursuant to Section 03.40.03 of the 
Zoning Ordinance, as requested for the proposed Vehma International Improvements, 
located on the Northwest corner of Stephenson and Rankin (1055 Stephenson), in 
Section 35, within the M-1 zoning district, be (granted, subject to the following 
conditions): 
___________________________________________________________) or  
 
(denied, for the following reasons: _________________________________) or 
 
(postponed, for the following reasons:_________________________________) 

 
 
Yes:  
No:  
Absent:  
 
MOTION CARRIED / DENIED 

 
 



VEHMA INTERNATIONAL

5/4/2010

Legend

1: 1,872

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

1560312 312Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

I-75
Road Centerline

Major Road
Industrial Road
Local Road

Hydrography Poly
Hydrography Arc
Parcels
Aerial Photos - 2008

Red:    Band_1
Green: Band_2
Blue:   Band_3



VEHMA INTERNATIONAL

5/4/2010

Legend

1: 2,808

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

2340468 468Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

I-75
Road Centerline

Major Road
Industrial Road
Local Road

Zoning
(PUD) Planned Unit Development
(B-1) Local Business District
(B-2) Community Business District
(B-3) General Business District
(R-C) Research Center District
(C-F) Community Facilities District
(C-J) Consent Judgment
(E-P) Environmental Protection District
(R-EC) Residential Elder Care
(P-1) Vehicular Parking District
(H-S) Highway Service District
(M-1) Light Industrial District
(O-1) Office Building District
(O-M) Office Mid-Rise District
(OSC) Office Service Commercial District
(CR-1) One Family Residential Cluster District
(R-1A) One Family Residential District
(R-1B) One Family Residential District
(R-1C) One Family Residential District
(R-1D) One Family Residential District
(R-1E) One Family Residential District
(R-1T) One Family Attached Residential District
(R-2) Two Family Residential District
(R-M) Multiple Family Residential Medium Density
(RM-1) Multiple Family Residential District (Low Rise)
(RM-2) Multiple Family Residential District (Mid Rise)
(RM-3) Multiple Family Residential District (High Rise)

Hydrography Poly
Hydrography Arc
Parcels
Aerial Photos - 2008

Red:    Band_1
Green: Band_2
Blue:   Band_3



 

Richard K. Carlisle, President      R. Donald Wortman, Vice President       Douglas J. Lewan, Principal      John L. Enos, Principal 
Jennifer L. Coe, Associate    Sally M. Elmiger, Associate    David J. Scurto, Associate    Brian M. Oppmann, Associate    Zachary Branigan, Associate 

 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Brent Savidant 
 
FROM: Zachary Branigan 

DATE: May 24, 2010 
 
RE: Vehma International 
 
 
We are in receipt of a site plan for the proposed Vehma International Building at 1055 
Stephenson Highway.  Under separate cover, we have reviewed this submittal preliminarily for 
general compliance with ordinance requirements and have determined that the project complies 
with the required height limitations, building setbacks, minimum landscaped area, maximum lot 
coverage, and general parking requirements.  That memo determined that the applicant will be 
required to secure one variance to allow parking in the front yard setbacks on two of its 
frontages.  This variance would be required for the project to proceed as designed, in accordance 
with Section 43.86.00, which states that when a variance is required for a project which also 
requires site plan approval, that project must first come before the Planning Commission.   
 
Given that the applicant will be present to discuss the project with the Planning Commission at 
the June 8 meeting, we have complies a second memorandum of other observations with regard 
to this project for general discussion. The project site is currently vacant and the existing 
building there was demolished. The site is home to some debris and the former parking lot, but 
no vertical structures remain.  The site is in the M-1, Light Industrial District.  This project 
would include a 141,977 square foot industrial building for Vehma International, and automotive 
supplier. 
 
Comments with regard to the preliminary submittal have been provided by a variety of City 
departments. We have summarized some of the primary points below: 
 

1. The engineering department has no objections to the two new proposed drives to Rankin, 
but would prefer (but will not require) that these drives be aligned with those previously 
existing on the south side of Rankin. 

2. Fire lanes will be required, and the applicant should coordinate with the Fire Department. 
3. The regional storm water retention for this property is in need of improvements. It should 

be reviewed and upgrades required. 
4. The proposed trees are too close together and should be more widely spread across turf 

areas. 
5. Parking calculations are unclear, as detailed descriptions of square footage breakdown are 

not provided. 



Vehma Interational 
May 24, 2010 

 2 

 
We concur with these comments, and specifically we are concerned with regard to the provided 
parking calculations.  It is unclear if the description of the building’s square footage on Sheet SP-
1 under “site data” is describing the entire building, or simply the first floor, as it states.  If it is 
only describing the first floor, then it is further unclear why only 25,062 square feet of the 
proposed 50,342 first floor office space is usable.  We think a more likely explanation is that the 
proposed office space number, 50,342, is describing the entire office space.  The applicant 
should, in any case, clearly identify the first floor and second floor square footage data and 
adequately describe required and proposed parking.  It is likely, given that 418 spaces are 
proposed and only (according to these plans) 365 are required, that adequate parking exists to 
satisfy demand.  If surplus parking is proposed the applicant should justify this surplus parking 
and consider reducing the parking to no more than would be required, and potentially land bank 
parking at this time to reduce impervious surface, increase open space, and improve stormwater 
conditions. 
 
We believe that a reduction is the overall number of parking spaces could also present an 
opportunity for a more sustainable parking surface, with integrated low impact stormwater 
techniques and increased parking lot landscaping.  As designed, the project includes large 
uninterrupted surfaces with no landscape or stormwater mitigation techniques. 
 
The site could also benefit from enhanced pedestrian connectivity with the adjacent three 
roadways and internally. The project includes only marginal, minimalistic pedestrian access for 
circulating around the building.  We suggest the applicant consider integrating dedicated 
walkways throughout the parking lot, perhaps enhanced by integration with additional parking 
lot landscaping islands, to increase pedestrian safety and non-motorized access to the 
development. 
 
As noted, this project cannot move forward as designed without relief from the Ordinance.  
Therefore, we recommend that the Planning Commission postpone action on the applicant’s 
request until such time as they can apply for and potentially obtain a variance from the Board of 
Zoning Appeals. 
 
Sincerely,  

 
 
225-02-2910 



 

Richard K. Carlisle, President      R. Donald Wortman, Vice President       Douglas J. Lewan, Principal      John L. Enos, Principal 
Sally M. Elmiger, Associate    David J. Scurto, Associate    Brian M. Oppmann, Associate    Zachary Branigan, Associate 

 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Brent Savidant 
 
FROM: Zachary Branigan 

DATE: June 7, 2010 
 
RE: Vehma International 
 
 
We are in receipt of a site plan for the proposed Vehma International Building at 1055 
Stephenson Highway.  Under separate cover, we have reviewed this submittal preliminarily for 
general compliance with ordinance requirements and have determined that the project complies 
with the required height limitations, building setbacks, minimum landscaped area, maximum lot 
coverage, and general parking requirements.  That memo determined that the applicant will be 
required to secure one variance to allow parking in the front yard setbacks on two of its 
frontages.  This variance would be required for the project to proceed as designed, in accordance 
with Section 43.86.00, which states that when a variance is required for a project which also 
requires site plan approval, that project must first come before the Planning Commission.   
 
Given that the applicant will be present to discuss the project with the Planning Commission at 
the June 8 meeting, we have complies a second memorandum of other observations with regard 
to this project for general discussion. The project site is currently vacant and the existing 
building there was demolished. The site is home to some debris and the former parking lot, but 
no vertical structures remain.  The site is in the M-1, Light Industrial District.  This project 
would include a 141,977 square foot industrial building for Vehma International, and automotive 
supplier. 
 
Comments with regard to the preliminary submittal have been provided by a variety of City 
departments. We have summarized some of the primary points below: 
 

1. The engineering department has no objections to the two new proposed drives to Rankin, 
but would prefer (but will not require) that these drives be aligned with those previously 
existing on the south side of Rankin. 

2. Fire lanes will be required, and the applicant should coordinate with the Fire Department. 
3. The regional storm water retention for this property is in need of improvements. It should 

be reviewed and upgrades required. 
4. The proposed trees are too close together and should be more widely spread across turf 

areas. 
5. Parking calculations are unclear, as detailed descriptions of square footage breakdown are 

not provided. 



Vehma Interational 
June 7, 2010 

 2 

 
We concur with these comments, and specifically we are concerned with regard to the provided 
parking calculations.  It is unclear if the description of the building’s square footage on Sheet SP-
1 under “site data” is describing the entire building, or simply the first floor, as it states.  If it is 
only describing the first floor, then it is further unclear why only 25,062 square feet of the 
proposed 50,342 first floor office space is usable.  We think a more likely explanation is that the 
proposed office space number, 50,342, is describing the entire office space.  The applicant 
should, in any case, clearly identify the first floor and second floor square footage data and 
adequately describe required and proposed parking.  It is likely, given that 418 spaces are 
proposed and only (according to these plans) 365 are required, that adequate parking exists to 
satisfy demand.  If surplus parking is proposed the applicant should justify this surplus parking 
and consider reducing the parking to no more than would be required, and potentially land bank 
parking at this time to reduce impervious surface, increase open space, and improve stormwater 
conditions. 
 
We believe that a reduction is the overall number of parking spaces could also present an 
opportunity for a more sustainable parking surface, with integrated low impact stormwater 
techniques and increased parking lot landscaping.  As designed, the project includes large 
uninterrupted surfaces with no landscape or stormwater mitigation techniques. 
 
The site could also benefit from enhanced pedestrian connectivity with the adjacent three 
roadways and internally. The project includes only marginal, minimalistic pedestrian access for 
circulating around the building.  We suggest the applicant consider integrating dedicated 
walkways throughout the parking lot, perhaps enhanced by integration with additional parking 
lot landscaping islands, to increase pedestrian safety and non-motorized access to the 
development. 
 
As noted, this project cannot move forward as designed without relief from the Ordinance.  
Therefore, we recommend that the Planning Commission postpone action on the applicant’s 
request until such time as they can apply for and potentially obtain a variance from the Board of 
Zoning Appeals. 
 
Sincerely,  

 
 
225-02-2910 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 8, 2010 
   
 
 

 
7. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 960) – Proposed VEHMA 

International Improvements, Northwest Corner of Stephenson Hwy and Rankin 
(1055 Stephenson Hwy), Section 35, Currently Zoned M-1 (Light Industrial) 
District 
 
Mr. Savidant presented a summary of the Planning Consultant report on the 
proposed preliminary site plan application.  Mr. Savidant said the applicant must 
secure a variance from the 50-foot front yard setback requirement in the M-1 
district, and indicated the applicant is scheduled to appear at the June 15, 2010 
Board of Zoning Appeals meeting.   
 
Mr. Savidant reported a thorough review of the preliminary site plan application 
provided by the Planning Consultant was distributed to the members prior to the 
beginning of tonight’s meeting. 
 
Thomas Kemp of Kemp & Peyerk Development, 275 W. Girard, Madison 
Heights, was present.  He addressed the required setbacks in relation to the 
three frontages of the site and parking. 
 
Kevin Biddison of Biddison Architecture, 850 Stephenson Highway, Troy, was 
present.  He addressed the design layout and occupancy of the building.  A 
colored rendering of the proposed development was displayed. 
 
There was discussion on: 
• The three frontages of the site in relation to the 50-foot setback requirements. 
• The design layout with respect to form-based codes; i.e., building orientation 

toward Stephenson and parking in rear. 
• A retaining wall or berm design to screen parked vehicles. 
• Stormwater management; incorporate innovative green features.  
 
Mr. Biddison said they would try to accommodate the Planning Commission and 
take into consideration the suggestions and comments made this evening. 
 
 

 



BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 15, 2010 
 
 

A. VARIANCE REQUEST, KEVIN BIDDISON, NORTHWEST CORNER OF 
STEPHENSON HWY AND RANKIN – In order to construct a new building 
and parking areas, a variance from the requirement that parking areas 
adjacent to Rankin Street and Allen Road be set back 50 feet from the right of 
way lines. 
 
Mr. Evans gave a brief report on the proposed variance with respect to its 
location and zoning of adjacent properties.  He addressed the three frontages 
of the site and parking areas within the required 50-foot setback along Rankin 
and Allen.  Mr. Evans reported that the Preliminary Site Plan was before the 
Planning Commission at their last meeting, at which time no action was taken 
because a variance is required. 
 
Kevin Biddison of Biddison Architecture, 850 Stephenson Highway, Troy, was 
present.  Mr. Biddison addressed the variances requested along Allen and 
Rankin to allow for parking on the site.  An approximate 3-foot concrete 
retaining wall, at a slope to the sidewalk, is proposed within the 25-foot 
greenbelt.  Mr. Biddison said deciduous trees and plantings would be planted 
in that area to provide screening for parked cars.  Mr. Biddison said the newly 
constructed office building would bring 285 office positions and 180 prototype 
positions to the City of Troy. 
 
Thomas Kemp of Kemp & Peyerk Development, 275 W. Girard, Madison 
Heights, owner of the property, was present.  Mr. Kemp indicated the 
proposed retaining wall is to accommodate the wishes of the Planning 
Commission.  
 
Mr. Evans asked for clarification on the setback dimensions.  The site plan 
indicates the setbacks are approximately 21.5 feet and 22 feet, not 25 feet as 
noted in the agenda explanation.   
 
Mr. Biddison said the variance requests are 25 feet, one-half of the setback 
requirements.  Mr. Biddison commented favorably on seeing new 
development in the City. 
 
Brian Corcoran, Director of Operations of Vehma International, said the 
development would bring a capacity of 285 engineering/design positions and 
80 manufacturing positions.  He indicated 45 to 50 of the engineering/design 
positions and 20 of the manufacturing positions would be new heads. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
No one was present to speak. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 



BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 15, 2010 
 
 

 
Resolution # BZA 2010-06-029 
Motion by Kempen 
Support by Courtney 
 
MOVED, To grant the variance requested.   
 
Preliminary Findings: 
• That the variance would not be contrary to public interest. 
• That the variance does not permit the establishment of a prohibited use 

within a zoning district. 
• That the variance does not cause an adverse effect to properties in the 

immediate vicinity or zoning district. 
 
Special Findings: 
• Conforming would be unnecessarily burdensome in this case. 
• The variance is small variance in this case. 
• The proposed improvements would improve the area. 
 
Discussion on the motion on the floor. 
 
Mr. Clark asked if there were any communications on file from neighboring 
property owners or the public. 
 
Vice Chair Bartnik replied in the negative.  He noted the communications 
included minutes from the Planning Commission, as well as the City’s 
Planning Consultant report.   
 
Vote on the motion on the floor. 
 
Yes: All present (6) 
Absent: Lambert 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 


















	SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING AGENDA
	June 22, 2010 7:30 P.M. Council Board Room

	JUNE 8, 2010 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES
	PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 962)
	Proposed Resolution
	MAPS
	PLANNING CONSULTANT REPORT
	LETTER FROM DAVID W. GOODMAN
	LETTER FROM RICK AND RITA HOWARD
	SITE PLAN

	PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 960)
	Proposed Resolution
	MAPS
	PLANNING CONSULTANT REPORT, dated May 24, 2010
	PLANNING CONSULTANT REPORT, dated June 7, 2010
	PLANNING COMMISSION DRAFT MINUTES
	BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS DRAFT MINUTES
	SITE PLAN


